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FRAUDULEN!E’ MEDICAL DEGREES

[ 2ot

FRIDAY, DECEMBER 7, 1086 '

‘- Ho@:pr Rnpansmm'vns,
SeuECT COMMITTEE ON AGING,
_ SurcoMMITTEE O HuAi:rH AND LONG-TERM CaAfe,
; Washmgton, -DC.

The subcommittee met, ursuant to notice, at 10:15 a.m.; in room
311, Cannon House Office uilding, Hon. Claude Pepper (chau'man e
- of the- subcommittee)-presiding. ¥

Members . Jn:esent' Representatives Pepper, Wyden, Wortley,
Bilirakis, andDéWine.

taff present Bill Halamandaris, staff’ dirzctor, Kathy (xardnﬂr B

Ctavedx, .aBsistant staff director, Melanie A. Modlm, executive as- o
sistant, Therea Johnson, intern, Marion Brown, intern, Richard: o
Ehling, intern,- Daron Street, intern, Ronald Schwartz, detailee, F
Office of Ins r General, Department -of Health and Human ;
s Services, Mark Benediet, minority-staff-director, ar 1 Susan Roland,
-, assistant minority staff’ director.

'OPENING-STATEMENT OF CHAIRMAN CLAUDE PEFPER e

Mr Pxpexr. Good morning, ladies-and gentlemen, and . members b
_— of the subcommittee. I am sorry to be a little tardy.-Sométimes iy

*

Ly emeaarean

/ when I am -a little late for a speaking engagement, I tell a story .
: that. maybe some:of you haven’t heard, that'back in the-old days in ¢
- the South, they had dueling. Two fellows’ became very much embit- =i

‘e tered: with eac% other, and‘one of them challenged-the ofher one.to. K
Y du¢1 Tbey agreed to a time and plaée and chose pistols.as the
eq
¢ tlme had arrived for the dueling to . One of the- dpelmts
was:there with-his pistol and his second, an« the other one had-not .
amved Just before time. for the duel: to begm a messenger rushed-- _
. iand handed -a note to the duelist who was there from the-one
who hadn’t arrived, and the one read “I am going to be late, go-
: .ahead: and-start without me.” So I-am sorry f}g\t I delayed my col-
leagues ey for.a-moment, -
e members of this subcommittee recently- concluded aodyear y
detaxled ‘investigation into-medical-frauds with. respect to-the e der-
. Tncidentally 1 have had I don’t know hew many different calls
rom various groups which caused me to wonder whether it was )
» worth the éffort to try to protect people from quacker{ Tt looks . . -
like the quacks have so many ftien and 'so many, 1 suppose, m’%

honest believers that it is difficult to come to a conclusion, or at,

Jleast to get a public body to.come t0.a conch.sxon that there area

lot of frauds:being prrpetrated ageinst the people.
(1) @




And’then the language of the bill that we introduced prohably = ,
‘Was broader in-some areas than it shoild ‘have been and gave.the :
appearance that it was intended to preclude certain things -that
pqr.}_xtali)g ﬁall;e not:properly subject to prohibition, like use of vitamins
‘and-the-like. .- y

1t would be very difficult to determine whether vitamins do any
good.or not. I know when T have a cold, on the recommendation. of ‘
some friends, I usually start taking vitamin C, I.don’t -know wheth- .
er it does any good or not. Jt séems to, and I guess.I-wouldn’t want :
. to give it up if somebody were to tell me it doesn’t do any good and
L m'ghtt even-do-sdme Harm. .o . )
ut if'we, on hehalf of this subcommittee, decide to deal with the
* area of quackery’next year, we will carefully examine the:language 2 -
of the-Lill that we have proposed. Of vourse, the last bill died be- .¢ -
cauge it was' rot enacted-before the end-of the last Congress; but,

-

3 .on the other-haud,.thz-bills. have raised a serious question—a- 16t of
‘people don’t accept the opinion of the medical profession. They
think. they. are-prejudiced. They falsify the statements.and reports
atd recommendgations, and the quac’.s will say that the“medical. es-
ablishnient doesn’t ‘have the cure for cancer and some of these T

* things either, and why do they blame us for trying-to find a cure,
and-the like. So that is-a matter of considerable concérn.

Qi the other hand, the billions of dollars that are heing rip

off the Anpierican people and especially the elderly by ,pqule that
know in their hearts thaf what theyare selling is-worta the price
they are getting for it—some of it .is-obnoxious. They actually :sell
dung- and that sort of thing in.some of their recipes. So that is a
different subject. o

We are dealing today with a different-subject. We found:that the-

majority of $10 billion lost an'nu‘%?l.ly to-phony health cures basical-
%y comes suat-of the pockets of.older Americans whe make-up about b
05 percent of such $raud victims. During the course-of the inquiry,

we learned about the subject of today’s hearing, whkich is perhaps

the most grievous of health frauds. That is the purchase of fraudu-
lent medical degrees and. credentials-and the %ghovision of medical’ .
care by unqualified people posing as doctors. That, is to. say they

are not-qualified, legitimate physicians. - * L

Sadly, we have.discovered that for many years:-we have allowed

U8, citizens who graduated from foreign medical schools to rdceive
medical licenses without displaying the same levels of medical
sknq;wiec;{s -and clinical competence -as Fgrqduates of U.S. medical
8. e%

]

school e also-discovered that most deral and State encies
have relatively lax systems for checking t e credentials of foreign: -~ .
medical school graduates. As a result, at this very moment, inno- v
cent American citizens may ke receiving medical treatment from- - .-
doctors who lied on their medical schnol Joan a lications, used the
money not to go to school but to pay a broker for fake documents
claiming to prove he or she completed school -and. training. We will
have some evidence that is very convincing of that-today. . ,

Ag a repult, at-this very moment, innocent American citizens, as ‘x
I say, are being subjected to that kind .of fraud. At this very o
moment, also, innocent Americans:may-be receiving medical treat- ‘-
ment from doctors. who either 'stole or paid for-a copy -of an-exam "
which had to be passed before he or she could practice. In July of .

L]

1




last year, 3,000. to .4;060 of the 17,000 students wh took the test for
foreign medical graduates saw the .answers in advance. Cages of -
cheating in State licenging exams ‘have been discovered in- 11

in |
States. Unfortunately, as we will hear today, these dangerous de-
c‘eg'th;:ng occuk with-a frequency we:dare not imagine possible.
subcommittee found that upward. of 10,000 so-called- doctors
now in-hospitals-and private practice havé obtained fraudulent for-
ei%q medical degrees, and we will show you some- startling facts: ‘
Po.gain a better understanding of how one ‘goes about obtaining. .3
Bh.dl!)"medical credentials this morning, we will hear from Mr. ° -
: Pedro-de Mesones and several of his: clients. Mr. de Mesones. is
- gerving 3 years at Alienwood Federal Prison for providing fraudu-
] lent medical credentials to IGEJ:eoplé from October 1980 to August
1983. Thirteen-of thode obtained their medical licenses and six were
.found- to be worlrl,i;-;f in medical residency programs, Mr. de Me-

. :ﬁnest ‘made $1.5 million before he was caught by U.S. Postal: au-

Y horities, . . oo P .

. We wil] also hear from-a representative of a patient cared for by ,

- °  Abraham Asante. Mr. Asante assumed the medical credentials of . _

- another doctor and rose to-the rank of chief medical officer in the :
military and was later -employed by numerous reputable ‘medical ‘>
hospitals and the National Institute -or Aging. His career came to .
an end when in 1983, as staff -anesthesiologist at Walson Army :
Hospital in New- Jérsey, he administered anesthesia to.a 47-year-
old Joseph Branda. Branda’s heart stopped and-Asante did not
notice for 4 minutes. By the time authentic physicians started
Branda's-heart, he had suffered irreparable brain.damage. :
+ Now there is a-mar rilined for life who was mistreated by a man
who wasn’t a doctor at-all, but professing to be one.

_ The subcommittee surveyed all the State medical examiners in 7
an -effort to determine what the States’ experience has been with -
regard to phony doctors. Virtually every State acknowledged the %
seriousness of this problem. Half the States indicatedétheg'rhad :
firsthand experience with phony-doctors practicing in their States.

Fifteen States have alreatfy initiated investigations. We look for-
ward ‘to hearing the testimony today of a number of State officials
and their experiences in-this regard. . T
The next logica) question is, if the quality of education:in-certain
fureign-medical schools is.so bad and-if the requiirements of train-
ing, testing and financial assistance can be circumvented, why do
they ‘continue to gperate? The subcoinmittee found:that it is simply
a matter of supply-and demand. Only abcut one-half of those who
apply for American medical achools are accepted. That is, we don’t
have enough room-in our medical colleges in the country to:accom-
. modate the-number -of interested students. Only about half of the-
, applicants are accepted, leaving about-15,000 more Americans who
) wint lgo become doctors than can be accommodated: in- American
. schools. . *
For foreign medical schools, the motivation is equally clear, It is
o6d business. Americans spent between $40 million and $50 mil- -
ion last year in Santo Domingo-on tuition and hvmil experises,
They #lso serve to underwrite the cost of tuition for the natives.

’

. & Per semester tuition for U.S. ritizens at medical school in Santo
Domingo runs from $1,000 to $2,500. It is-about. 75 for—qitizens of

/.v
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the Domirficari Republic. So you.see dhey make up on our pédple,
costs that should be charged partial theirs. .. -

As the General Accounting Offi¢e and others will report to the.

" subcommittee, the ease with which fraudulent credentials are ob-

tained and the relative ease of admission of U.S. citizens to the for-
eign medical schools.poses a very sefious threat to current health
care standards in our country. v .

It is estirated that U.S. medical schools will produce -over 16,000

" too many-doctors by 1990. Now that is a figure thatrour staff has

presented; and I méntioned to them that I was surprised at that. T
didn’t kriow we had too many doctors or were likely to have too
many. We generally say we have go. too many lawyers, but if ev- -

erybody has thé legal assistance that he or'she was entitled to, I

T don’t Rnow whether we would have an excess or not. But anyway,

.;;;.:7

©°

~

“ produ

we ai'é: told that it is estimated that U.S. medical schools will
e over 16,000 too many doctors by 1990.  _

Given the situation, it is ironic that the Federal Government is -
spending more than $40 million in loans to studepts attending for-
eign medjcal schiols, particularly when much:of that total, perhaps
as much as $20 million, the committee estimates, is being wasted. -

A flood of poorly trained—and that is certainly one of the areas
in which our Government might be well concerned as an instance
of waste—a flood of pporly trained or even fraudulent doctors
would make our doctor surplus far worse. i .

Unless’ f'permanegjt changes are made, we will contfnue to subject
the eldetly primarily, and the poor in particular, to poor treatment ;
at public hospitals by students and residents who have inadequate
or no‘medicgl education. * ) : ‘

_ Now, you-know in a lot of the hospitals a student over here from
a foreign medical school is permitted to be a resident and perform
certain, serviges, I presume it; nder the direction of a qualified
dactor or nurse, but when we ske thow easy it is” for them to be en-
trusted with responsibility, they Xyay not be qualified-at all. *

~ We must havea health care system”in place that will assure.the
American public that a physician is, in fact, a legitimate graduate
of a-hi% -quality medical school and, in"addition to that, as I under-
stand 1t, before they can practice, that they have completed’a-cer-

tain length &f residency in hospitals, w - = . .
We look forward, therefore, to hearing testimony today which
“will not-only provide a definition of this problem bus also guidance,

we hdpe, for needed reform: LY :
OWould you dike o add -anything, Mr. Wyden? e o
» A . \-

STATEMENT OF IEE!,?RESEN’I‘QTIVE RON, WYDEN .

Mr. WypeN. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.
I want to commend you for convening this hearing on a very se-
rious problem. The evidence is very clear. In séme states, the cre-

L)

dentials that are framed on a doctor's wall may not be worth the .,

paper that they are written: on. Impostors without a shred of medi-
cal training are performing medical operatjons on our citizens. It is
"my-guess that a lot”of these phonies ca

~

alone administer one of them correctly,

n’t even spell anesthetic, let
= s




%at is partwularly grotesque about today’s situation is tHat at 00
a time when critically: needed -Government health care programs )
are being reduced, the Federal Government is sperding precious R
tax -dollars 1o, supporb consumer fraud. \:“ugh educational sup- ,

rt, employbd in VA hospitals and Medicade: and Medicaid reim- *
ursement,. chgrlatans are- systemmatlcally ﬂeecmg the Federal

, these frauds are an insult to the mahy doctors in

this country who-have. earned . theu‘ stripes after years of demand~ *,

m training and education. T
e last point.that I WOuld hke to make, Mr Ghaxrman and col- s

14

leagueq, is that these hearings oughit to send a m to the ad-- .,
. ministration,. a8 well, that when they submit their health care N
budgets to the Congress next year, they ought to make the c*ts -

first in the subsmes of charlatans,. rather than gomg -after
benefits the senior citizens in this country depen .

Mr. Chairman, I thank you for holding this, hearmg and, in. par- oo
ticular, for your commitment to developing golutions that will put Lo
doctors wmractlce imostly déteption in this country on the side-. .
lines-for g )

Thank:you very much, Mr..Chairmaii.

Mgs PeppEr. Thank yéu, Mr. Wyden. We appreclate your good *

' WOor
Mr. Bilirakis.

STATEMENT OF REPRESE ATIVE MICHAEL BILIRAKIS

Mr. BILIRAKIS. Thank you, M . Chairman. 1, too, want to-cem-
. mend you for calling this. hearing on-a matter of growing-concern
to the American ﬁeople, young.and old alike. As wé meet during
the final days‘qf this 98th Congress, we once again are demonstrat-
ing our concern over an increasingly serious matter, fraudulent
niedical degrees.

I might add. a supplement if you will, to Congressman \Vydens
- comments. ‘Of course, it is we the Congress who-will .come-up with
‘the ultimate budget. It is up Yo us if we really feel seriously-enough
abott this ‘matter to see that we in‘fact do take away many of
these dollars that g0 toward these types of programs.

This issue is of special concern-to me; not_ only becaust®I repre-
sent a district that containg a great number of older Americans,
but also because I am a father whose son has appiied to' medical
school. I kiiow the many hours that he has dedicated-to study and
research, as well as the sacrifices. And God knows there have been
many of ‘them that-he has had-to make. And I also know and have
shared many days of patient- wmtlng for replies as well as-the frus-
- tration that comes with that waiting. And I might add that those
frustrations continue because he bas not been aceepted in Iegxtl-
_mate medical schools\ -

The time has come Yor -us to take some actxon a‘famst these: pro-
viders of false degrees and the individuals who ta.purchase
them. With their actions, they extract a- dead] . toll from the Amer-
.can ple-and the elderly, as you said, Mr. Chairman,. in parti¢u-

\ e need to-act not.only to.protect these innoeent victims, but
K . alao to- uphold the mteg'nty of our medical educatidn sysiems.
- - . ;I’ \ - o




R 4“2 s Rf 4 -
I am pleased 1o join you, Mr. Chairman, Mi. Wydén and Mr, ;
Wortley and Mri DeWine: and.-other-thembers-who might arrive in - * -
this. last hearing, of the year and look férward to ‘heating from dur
- vitnesses” And hopefully we will be guided by their testimonies,
helping us to confront and deal with this probfem in the: proper

' "way. . . .
. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. ] - PR
© ~ -~ Mr: PerpEr. Thenk you véfy much, Mr. Bilirakis. « Se oy L
Mr. DeWine? . o =

- " STATEMENT OF REPRESENTATIVE MICHAEL DeWiINE

Mr. DEWINE” Thank you very much,“Mr. Chaifman. I will be
very ‘brief. ’ . - . o, . T,
. T just congratulate you for holding these hearings this morning:
And the briefing materiel that we hav> already réceived, I think, is ]
very clear thal there if'a need for. these hearings and a need to -
v bring this problem to-the attention-of the Congress and the Ameri- )
*.  can people. Thank you. . LY . . el
P -Mr. PeppER. Thank your very much, Mr. DeWirie. D
Mr. Wortley? : . : Yoo

STATEMENT OF REPRESENTA'I;I\_’E "GEORGE C. WORTLEY
. » Mr. Worttey. Thank you, Chairman Pép;fr. You a.e rendering .
a very.important service by conducting 'a ‘Hearing today on this: '
- Jery critical subject. ., .{{ o - ~ - ‘
A brief review of the situatio clearly indicates that fraudulent :
medical degrees, by enabling untrained individuals to work &5 doc.  *
. tors and/ surgeons, are a dangerous ,problgm. This form of fraud-is a R
: direct threat to the health and lives of patjents. ) o .-
"~ Tam well aware of the high standards that we have in our do- .
mestic /medical schools. Just like my colleague, Congressman Bili | .
rakis, 1 have a.son who-applied for medical schobl,.and at th ‘time "
he applied for medical school ih Upstate in Syracuse; NY, |there
were over 3,600 applicants. Nint, hundred’ were interviewed and
something l,i!!ﬁ(e 210 were accepted. He was one of the fortunate dnes
who Was accepted. - v . . ! .
.+ There-are many capable candidates for medical school w}t) just
-don’t_make it, and therefore they go abohd to $tudy. Unfort nate- -
ly, the quality of many schools abroad ig not Gpto Standards that
we have in this country, and-some practice outright fraud: If the- ,
systern for training and licensirig'pl;ysician‘s—inwl;}_ﬁé cotintry is sub- =~
" Jected-to fraud and ‘abuse, the whole of society suffers; particularly ,
the elderly and particular&ﬁthe indigent.in rural America where it
is:tough to get physicians'te.go-and practice. Their families| would-
prefer to-raise their children in more cultyred areasof the country
and enjoy some of the.greatér benefits of educations Chdirman - .’
Pepper, this is a very worthwhile sérvice that you have rendered .
today in calling us ‘togéther with these witnesses to- focus -on the
problem and, mere particularly,, in exploring solutions for the ,
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future. I,thank you. )
‘ °.  Mr. PeppER. Thankyou, Mr. Wortie&_\
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Beforé we call Qaur ﬁrst mtness, ‘I would like to submltfor the , 1
record a- briefing paper pre red for %he subcommxttee by its staff. - y

5 ‘Heanpg he;objection, -sa ordéred. ~e
J neﬁng paper, submxtted by Chalrman Pepper follows:}, . o
: ' Srxcr. f',‘ouv.rrmz ON: Anm«;l AN
oo, . coe U.S. Houvsz or R%.vmmanvm g
B - s Y - Do 4,
' . MEMORANDIM ’ o P "‘

"I‘o Membénhﬁthe Subcomimittee. I , ‘ e
Froinr Chalimasy g{ppe . o T,
Subject: Deeember y 198£h.-anag o1 fn.udulqnt msdwal degreel. RS

In:August: pf 1983, representative-of the Postal Service arrestad Pedro deMesones, . *
of Alexandyis. Virginia, Mr. deMuonu armt,followed an_mvestxgatlon into-aliega- :
;nom thet Mr. 16y Was in thé.bnsmgﬁv;{ ‘expediting® the: mumce of - medi-

alidegrees foon two medichl schools i thetCaril
‘ nomt prchmmary in oh, Postal suthurites for.an undgrcov
¢ inyestigator: to contecs Mr. de Mafmu during Se’mmber, 1982, Thm mvgstmtor
~'fma inform ed by deMosonea that-ke could mang& i o
cal school~ EC—on the island of'Santo Domingo for a- fee of $16,500 The fee -
wouid include: a muadical- degree: from-the aciiool, weomplet.q -pet. of'acad\emc tran- ]
scripts and’a letter of reference from the school. e : .
-mdnths Tater, without attehding-any courws at CE’I‘EQ‘, the inyestigator -

ﬁuduated f%m the.yniversity, receiving, «s promised, a diploma bestowing the title . A
PDoctor - an- Médicina,” an o capl translation of the diploma,.two séts ol academic

rdco{lf.: and-a leiter of; mfereneo from the dean cf the school. In 1983 after valxdab- 7

experience-with anptiser investizator who was offerefi credentidls: fronr a PR

aoctgg:l school -in-Santo Dorningo, deMedcnes’ was arrested: and/A search wqmmt exe-

Am]ym of deMesoney’ recorde determined-he had. proyided Iguduient creden-
tia.n to 165 people in the.3 years from:Octoher of {1950 until. August of 1988. Thir- , :
of <Hose oawmng theaa fraudulent-degrees wére found to-havé obtained their i
medxt:al‘hcenm :more were torking:in hospital residency-p ,.deMe- g
soneu was-found to-have made- $1 5 saillion thh his acheine diiring tbree-yecr v

Wof deMesones-and me ‘attempt to ;dentlfy end ﬁnd the mdawduald who
had:purchased degrees.from him’hais Jed to what:has bee:-calied: “the largest acin- ¥
dal inl recent médicul history.” As a result of deMesones’ arrest, investigitions have  *
been initiated in 15 sixtes, and the process?hy which foreign- medical gradustes-are '
licensed.in the United States and the&gunlity ofeducttmn:provxded by these fcralgn
medical schools have been brovight iito quastion.

Several other brokers of dégrees have been. ndentgﬁed and are under-i e - -
vestigation, af are the. credentmls of some 10,000 doctors already-practicing in-the . 5
Umtad States. At this point it is difficult to-determikie.the: ptecue e:iont of .this <

lem, but it is clear the deMssones matser ia-but the tip ¢f ! t’lf :
. blé federal, state and - private agencies have rot shown the ability to datht
£Creen these imposters. lf‘edeui funds have’ fueled the; problem to a angmﬁcam

degree. o . " 5 .oae ,

nui-

* v

- \
/ s now BiG 1f THE FRONLEM N N "-, AN

.77 _In 1982, 21 percent of all licensed pysicians were foreign medical lma
L While there are over 1,000 foreign. medical schoo r;g'of tho-a v?ho
: Loe in-thé:United States come from & relstive few Over a third of all forsign .
tal:gradiiates come from:Central and Scuth Amberica, If the problem is limifed: to L
- U.S. citizens studying abroad, the: vast niajority can be found in\less than a'dazen ' 7
-, schools that maintsin placement:offices in the United States. In- 1980, for example, -
t}‘\,roe sct ools;awoﬁnﬁed for fifty percent .of thel U8, citizens l%dy‘ing ‘medicing g
abroaa, R . s LA

\
4

. ucm? DO THESE SCHOOLS COMPARE TO mmcm MEDICAL oom‘-im

™\ Most of the dozen.cchools that-cater to American tidents have btext established

, -mce 1970, They ali solicit and ? ominately enroll U.S, citizens, They.are private- ;
ly odned institutions operated for a_pwifit. They rely on visiting. instructors - whowe . L
involyement with students in geners y’bnef and who promote clinical-experiences A )
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in the United States. They are often situated above grocery stores, ifi prefabricated
buildings, near commercial centers or in abandoned buildings. Moet lack rudimenta-
ry equipment, guch as x-ray machines, research libraries, cadavers, and patients.
In-1980, the General Accounting Office reviewed the operation of six foreign medi-
cal schools providing training to the majority of American students and concluded
none of them offered .a medical education comparable to that available in the
United States. They found deficiencies in admissions requirements, curriculum, fac-
ulty, and-¢linical training. Some of these-schools -have -admitted persons -without.
high school degrees, do not require a college degree and credited “Jife experiences.”

1F THESE SCHOOLS THAT BAD, WHY DO THEY CONTINUE TO OPERATE

Because of the high public esteem enjoyed-by-d&ttors and the enviable financial
rewards associated with this status, many more Americans want to become doctors
than can be accommodated. in American schools. This is despite the fact that the
number enrolled-in. American scheols has-more then ‘doubledi‘in the last 20 years. In
the 1960's the annual number of ‘medical school graduates in-the U.S, averaged
about 7,000. Today it exceeds 17,080, In the 1870’s, about & third of those applying to
medical school were accepted. In the 1980s, that riumtber has incre sed_to about-
half. For -the remainder, foreign- schools are often the last resort, About 15,000
American students a yesr exercise this option. - e

For the universities, the motivation. is equally’ clear—it's good business. The Do-
minican Republic, for example, has-six million people and a-dozen medical schools.
Foreign medical students—Americans—spent 40~ million_ last year in Santo Do-
mingo on tuition and living expenses. They aldo serve. to underwrite the cost of edu-
cation for natives. Tuition at these schools for citizens of the U.S. runs from $1,000
to $2,000 per trimester. It is about $75 for citizens of the Dominican Republic.

" HOW DO FORKIGN MEDIGAL GRADUATES GO ABOUT BECOMING LICENSED TO PRACTICE. IN
THE UNITED STATES s «

Generally, a foreign. medical student must have the following to be dicensed or

practice'medicine in the Unitad States. i PO
1. Two credit years of study in basic medical aéiences. .

-2 Pmic;'sation in undergraduate clinical training programs,
3. A medical degree from a World Health Organization listed mmedical school

gWHO ‘will list any medical school recognized by .the country where‘\the schook' is

4. Examination and certification by the Educational Commission for Foreign Med-
ical Graduates (ECFMG), a private testing.organization. o

& Graduate medical education (residencies). _ cr
6. Pass the Federation Licensing Examination as administered by the state in
which the applicant wants to be licensed. >

V-
HOW CAN THESE REQUIREMENTS BE CIRCUMVENTED

As previously indicated, the requirement of training at medical colleges,can and
been-subverted by poor admission practices; inadequate training and fxacilitleo.

It can and has been: avoided bg’ the apparent common reliance-on contrived educa-
tional experiences, fraudulent documents, unethical practices and bribery.

Requii‘emengs for clinical training are diluted by the fact that moet.c the.schools
in question do‘not have the capacity to provide clinical training and rely instead on
arrangements for placement in the United States or simply Jeave it to the student -
to arrange their own clinical experience. In at least one case, that of Dr. Joseph
McPike, formerly-of Polk Geneul’Hpapital in Bartow, Flordia, there is_evidence
that this requirement -can also be purckased. Dr. McPike was implicated as ‘g co-
conspirator of deMezones and convicted of embezaling-more than $20,060 that stu-
dents thought-they paid:for clinical training Polk Hospital under Dr. McPike's su-
pervision, . ,
peTestin’gzggquiremgnta have.also been avoided. In recent years, efforts to eor!x_;pro-
mise the inlogrity-of nedical screening exams have become common. These efforts
have-included the outright theft of examinations in adrarice, rampant on-site cheat-
ing, substitutions of exam takers and other forms of deception. The examples below
indicate the nature and impact of these attempts to avoid the l.creenmf process;

(1) In July 1983, 17,000 students took the F G exemination for fore adu-
ates who seek intefnship in U.S. hospitals. Subsequently, it was determined some 2-
4,000 of these applicants had seen the answers in advance. The test had been stolen
and sold for 358,000. The purchaser is daid to have made copies-and sold them for

— ,
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325,000, These purchasers made copies. which sold for $10,0D6 and the chain letter
-process continued until, ultimately, copies were sofd for $50. :
(2) Cases of cheating in state licensing exams have been discovered in 51 states.

(3)-In April, the owner of the firm that prepares thqusands of student for their
Medicals College Admissions Test (MCAT) was indicted for stealing MCAT questidns .
~ .

o - and using them in his cram coluises. .

T {4) A security guard was offered $7,000 for access to material to be used.in 2 Cali- «
fornia licensing exam. Around the same time, Michigan officials, discovering the
theft of copies of their licensing exam, wereuforc'c()l to substitute questions on the

S last day of the three day exan:. .

) (5) Three foreign_medical graduates were-arrested in 1982 for Ettem;)ting to bribe
an official of the ECFMG. 'They offered $7,000 for copies of the ECFMG's exam.\’
- . . p;

WHAT IS THE ERAL INVOLVEMENT

Federal funds arc provided directly to physicians under Medicare and Medicaid,
to hospitals for training under Medicare and to students as educational loans, While
the amounts paid under MedjeAre and Medicaid are difficult to calculate, it is clear
that-some improper payments -have been made and the government’s exposure is
substantial. In the only concrete example to date, Calffornia recently removed 24
doctors. from their Medicaid program after examination determined their creden-

tials were impro, . <. »
In addition, m(mf; of those who have been found to-have phony medical degrees
benefited. from {ederal or state educational loans, ranging $5,000 to $25,000. The:
GAO's review identified 25,500 federally supported educational loans to U.S. citizens-
attending foreign medical schools. The loans totaled $45 million, of which the GAO -
estimated $12.4 million was lost due to interest subsidies and defaults, If this loss is
extended forward and the cost of loans used essentially to purchase fraudulent de.
grees added, improper expenditures could exceed $20 million.
In addition to funding the purchase of foreign medical degrees and supporting the
clinical and graduate studies of foreign medical graduates in the U.S. under Medi-
care, the federal government also provides the service of offering the easiest point of
entry:into practice. Fifty percent of all foreign medical graduates receive training at .
V.A. facilitiés. Many go on t6 practice as part of the Department of Defense’s health -
system since the military accepts physicians in training without the.reqifirement of
state licensure. ~ -
In one recent incident resulting from th. New York State’s investigation, the ,
LArmy arrested one of its Captains, a second year orthopedic surgery resident, who
was charged with making false statements and for conduct unbecoming to an offi-
cer. He had claimed to be a graduate of a medical college in the Caribbean, but in-
vestigation determined. he had only attended 2 of the 10 required semesters. Never-
theless, from 1982-1984, he had spent half of each-wesk in surgery perforthing am-
putations, hip replacements, and hand operations. (His brother and sistér were in-
dicted by New York State for using similiar false credentials.) .

.

, HOW MANY CHECKBOOK DOCTORS ARE THERE

It is likely that we will.never know how many “checkbook” doctors are in prac:
tice. Based on the Subcommittee’s.review of this problem including contacts with
relevant law enforcement agencies, Inspeczor General offices, the Postal Service, s
and a survey of the fifty-state medical boards, we estimate that more then 10,0000 R
-physicians with questionable credentials are: practicing in the United States. In ad-
dition, while there are clearly many excellent:foreign medical schools, we now have
€ .cy reakon to question the quality of medical education obtained by the majority -
of American students eduf:ated abroad. s

. 1S THERE ANY HARM RESULTING FROM THESE ACTIVITIES -

While most of deMesones’ clients were identified before they were fully integrated .
into the system and operating in an unsupervised fashion, there is no clear evidence .
that the lack of traini,r\:;lg of these clients, who have short circuited the educational
system—some with-deMesones’ assistence and scme through other means—has re-
sulted.in harm-to unsuspecting. patients., - . 3 S0 .

One of deMesones’ clients was disciplined by an alert supervisor who noted that
the supposed doctor was prescribing medication without examining the patient. In a.
second incident, the student was reprimanded, for failing to notice the séverity of.
injury to.a patient and transfering himn to-an a?ute care facility.
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. tp pass examinations of the same length or difficuity as did
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The clearest example of harm, however, is presented by the case of Abraham

Asante, a naturalized citizen from Ghana who posed as a medical studént and

* doctor for almost 15 years. He worked in a number of hospitals in New York City
and worked for the military as-a hysician, rising to the position of Chief Medical
Officer. He even obtained a fellowship to the National Institutes of Health where he
worked for six months before heing dismissed.

In August of 1983, Asante was employed as a staff anesthesiologist at Walson
Army Hospital in Fort Dix, New-Jersey. During one routine operation while Asante
was administering anesthesia, the patient’s  heart stopped. Asante did not notice it
for four minutes. By the time the patient’s heart could be started, he had suifered
irreparable brain damage. _ - °

g

’ ¥

> WHAT CAN BE DONE ABOUT THIS PROBLEM

The clear conclusioni®this revifw is that our licensing system for foreign medi-
¢al graduates is a me#8, There is go iMernational or U.S. afe'ncy responsible for;ap-
proving, accrediting, or even visifing folgéign medical schools..State licensing activi-
ties are uneven, uncoordinated, gnd limiled by resources available and funding.. As
a result, there is no apparent to the quality or competence of the thou-
sands of foreign medica: gradua ¥ing in the U.S. or even the legitimacy of
their éredentials. L, .

While there appears to be little tat can be done to correct the sins of the past,
there is much-that ¢an be done to that these problems are corrected to protect
the health of-our citizens in the e and to prevent the-waste of federal funds.
Some recommendations are listed below. for your.consideration, ' ]

RECOMMENDATIONS .

. cﬁ) C;luaxiénteed Student Loans and V.A. loans could be eliminated for foreign med-
ical-schools. - . .

(2) All medical school graduates, wherever educated, should pass either the same
exam or a cloge equivalent. In the past, U.S. foreign medical graduates did not have

%;S. medical students.

(3) The federal government should not be allowed to fund or subsidize any. residen-
cies which are not accredited by state licensing boards or the Liaison Commuttee on
Medical Education and which are not supervised by medical-teaching-institutions.

(4) Medicare should not pay any training ‘or education costs £ any hospital em-
ploying a doctor in-clinical care who js not either in an approved residency or a
licensed physician. . PR

(5) No federal department or agency should employ a physician for clinical care
positions unless they are fully lcensed.

(6 The World Health Organization should not recognize any medical school which
trains or intends to'train 60% or more of.its students from outside the country or
.area in which the school is.located. -

7. All states should consider, as a minimlim, adopting a revised draft of the Feder-
ation of State Medical Boards' Model Mediczl Practice Act. .

8, It should be a Tederal felony to use fraudulent credentials to obtain any health
professional pogition or training in any facility that is partially reimbursed for that
position by Medicare or Medicaid. . -

)ﬂOl‘)EL MEDICAL PRACTICE ACT—DRAZT-PREPARED BY FEDERATION OF STATE MEDICAL
- ’ BOARDS .

Proposed provisions N
No license issued without passing examination. Limit on time allowed to pass

- exam without requited further education. Detailed educational, professional, and

-

disciplinary history fequired of applicants. Penalties for false statements, attempts
to cor‘npromiae exam, etc. License required of all who practice in State. .

Medicai school must be accredited by State;-twelve months of medical residenc:
training in U.S. required; and State or qualified body must accredit school, includ-
ing site visit. School must pey for visit. . . L -

oreign graduate must-be-eligible for unrestricted'license or authorizéd to prac-
ticé in country from whick degree is received. .

Limited license required for postgraduate training—requirements same as for; rex-
alar license except for the training. Application must be made through the institu-
tion"providing the training; institution must be,approved by State; and license must

"—be renewed annually.
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Disciplinary actions against licensees should be strengthened. Action can be taken
for: cheating on exams, falsified documents, drug or alcohol abuse, regresenting_to a
patient that & manifestly incurable disease, etc. can be cured; prescribing a drug for .
other than medically accepted therapeutic purposes; sanctions by Peer Review
Groups, government, etc., malpractice awards, and-failure to rlf_port any of above,
equired periodic reregistration—must prove continuing qualifications and reveal
any disciplinary problems. .°
- - . . v .
*  Mr. PeppEr. Our first witness will be Mr. Pedro de Mesones. Will
you stand please, Mr. de Mesones? = , M
ﬁs’xtness sworn.] -
r. PEpPER. We are pleased to. have you with us, Mr. de Me-
sones, and we welcome your statement. -

PANEL I—PROMOTERS, PURCHASERS} AND VICTIMS OF PHONY
MEDICAL DEGREE SCAMS: CONSISTING OF PEDRO de
MESONES, ALLENWOOD FEDERAL PRISON CAMP, MONTGOM-

N ERY, PA; MR. L, ONTARIO, CANADA; DR. X, TENNESSEE, AND
. LORTTEA BRANDA, ACCOMPANIED BY GARY LESNESKI; ESQ.,
- HADDONFIELD, NJ - . .

P

SO - STATEMENT OF PEDRO de MESONES .

= Mr. oe MEsoNEs. As you know, I am Pedro de Mesones. I am cur-
" . rently an inmate at the Allenwood Federal Correctional Camp in
Montgomery, PA. - . . )
~ On ember 21, 1983, I pled guilty to violating the mail fraud
statue and conspiracy. I was sentenced to 3 years in jail.
I deeply regret the actions that led to my, incarceration. and am
here voluntarily in the hope that my cooperation with this commit-
) tee will-in some way help right the wrongs I have-committed.

For about 3 years I engaged in the business of expediting medical
degrees. Through a company that I organized in the District of Co-
lumbia, Medical Education Placement, Inc., I placed advertise-
ments in papers-like the “New York Times” and “Los Angelss
Times,” and various professional journals. . j

'T advertised I could get graduations for students in- the field of
medicine and dentistry. You have a copy of some of my advertise-
ments on displag' along with some ads placed by my competitors. In-
September 1982 a woman calling ‘herself Odeite Bouchard ap-
proached me. She paid me $16,500 and ] airanged for her to gradu-
ate from one of the foreign medical schools where I had contacts.
She graduated in Decembe{ of 1982 without ever attending a day of

class. -

Although Ms, Bouchard presents to me some transcripts of her
previous studiés in nursing and I believe additional documents. at-
testing to courses in the‘field of sciences, the only time she was in
Santo Domingo was when she went to-get her medical degree from
* ° CETEC Medical School at graduation. Along with her dlc'tploma she’

" - also obtained a complete set of academic transcripts and letters of
recommendations from the dean of that school. OnI% later did I
learn Odette was an’ undercover agent working for the postal in-
spectors. ) ‘

In the 3 years I was in this business, I -had apgroximately 111

clients. I provided about 100 of these clients with false transcripts

ghgwing th?iv had fulfilled medical requirements of schools they
idn’t attend. :

- ol "
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I provided or arranged placement in an American ‘hospital for
clinical rotations and falsified>evaluations-of clinical rotations in a
conspiracy with Dr. Joseph McPike of Polk Gereral Hospital in
Florida. I randomly selected in keeping with my clients wishes,
graduation dates and obtained transcripts, letters of good standing,

" recommendations and medical degrees-from*CETEC medical scheol.

Following an already existing practice abroad mainly in.the Car-

. ibbean and Mexico, I was not the architect hor the kingpin of this

practice. I just was.approaching a common practice of these
schools, the practice that I believe still existg biy some of the
schools abroad. My misjudgment was. based on the fact that any of
my students or medical clients who obtained these diplomas at-any
schools -abroad, upon their return.to America had to apply for li-
cense to practil:e medicine and had to pass a rigorous tesd, the
]E_)CFMG and the FLEX before they would receive their American
icense. ‘ - .o ,

¢ Also when necessary, I obtained. false transcripts from other for-
eign medical schools to complete the “student’s” academic record.
By the time authorities seized my records in August of 1988, ap-
proximately 86 of my clients had graduated from CETEC in Santo
Domingo and about 12 more were scheduled to graduate from a
second-medical school on the jsland. - . /

I learned lately that 40-of my clients had since been certified by
the Educational Commission for Foreign Medical Graduates. Thir-
teen had obtained their medical license to practice and six more
were working in hospital residency programs.

Clients paid me and the school from $5,225 to $26,000 for my
services. In all I collected about 31.5 millior in approximately 3%
years. I only got to keep about $433,500 to $500,000 of this total.
The rest went for tuition payments and additional payments to as-
sistant deans and miscellaneous expenses. ;

I know now what I did was»wrong.'But I must_ tell you others are
doing the same thing. I have given the names of some of 4hese
people to the postal authorities, and the investigators. from your
comriittee also. I regret what I did, but I should not be the only
one punished. I will do-whatever I can to make up for this mistake
and to assure that the Ameriean people will be completely well-
taken care of by qualified physicians by ideatifying the schools
abroad and perpetrators who are engaged in this-sort of practice.

As a matter of fact, at this moment I am devising, myself, sorme
kind of special process in order to check and double check all those
medical credentials: of graduates from abroad who come here spe-
cifically to deceive the American people. Can you imegine in the
Dominican Republic there have been about 16 medicsl schools in-a
country of a million inhsbitants? And I do. believe some of those
schools have beeh specifically set up in order to attract the. Ameri-
can market, just for business, and riot for teaching. L

I'do also think the American schools graduate about 20,000 phy-
sicians a year average, which is good enough to take care of Ameri-

cans. The United States does not need additional doctors. If they

want to get additional doctors, they have to have ‘their credentials
well-checked, and they must have completed studies and they have
to be well qualified to pass the test. ] -

: | 1_7‘}4‘ e E
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The test has to be very rigorous and they should find-themselves N
different types of tests or very different ways in order to be able to
assure that these students are well-knowledgeable in their studies, -
because I also learned lately that those tests they have been sélling i
in_advance-on the free market for a price of $1,000 to $50,000 each. _ .
. T am sorry that I don't know who are the:sellers and perpetra- .

tors, and I will be pleased to give you that information as to the .

American.authorities. Thank you. If you have any questions, I will p

be"gleased to answer. i N

[The prepared statement of Mr. de Mesones follows:] ~

. _.  PREPARED SaTeMENT OF PEDRO B2 MESONES

Mr. Chairman: I am Pedro de Mesones. < ,
l} am currently an inmate of the Allenwood Federal Correctional Center in Penn-
sylvania. . .
On December-21, 1983, I pled gullty to violating the mail fraud statute and con-
. \\ spiracy. I was sentenced to 3 yearsin jail. x
I deeply re%"ret the actions that led to my incarceration and am here voluntarily
in the hope that my cooperation with this committee wili in some way. help right
the wrongs I have committed. -

For about three years I engaged in the business of “expediting”’ medicdl degrees. ,
Through -a -company I organized in the District of Columbia, Medical 'Education N
Placement, Inc., T placed advertisements in papers like the New York Times and

\ Los Angeles Times,and various professional journals.

I advertised I could get students medical degrees, Ph.D.s and dental degrees. You

have a co;.;y tgf some of my advertisements on display along with some ads placed by
1y.competitors. . . .

\In September 1982 a woman calling herself Odette answered one of my advertige-
ments. She paid me $16,500 and I arranged for her to graduate from one of the for- .
eignt medical schools where 1 had contacts. She graduated in December-of 1982 with- -
out ever attending a day®of class. The only time she was in Santo Domingo was .
when she went to get her medical degree.  ° -

I also arranged to get her a complete set of academic transcripts and letters of
reference. Only later did T learn Odette was an undercover. agent working for the

. Postal Service. - R

In the 3 years I was in this business, I had 165 clients. I provided.about 100 of

these clients with falsetranscripts showing they had fulfilled medical requirements
- of schools.they didn’t attend. . . *

I provided or arranged-placements in American schools for clinical rotations and
falsified evaluations of clinical rotations in a conspiracy with Dr. Joseph McPike of
Polk Geji¥ral Hospital in Florida. : L

I randomly selected the graduation dates of my clients and obtained transcripts,
letters of good standing, recommendations and medical degrees from two colleges in ;
the Caribbean. , . ’ L ¢ .

When necessary, I obtained false tranacripts from other foreign medical schools to
complete the “student’s” academic record. *

Bg' the time authorities seized my records in August of 1983, 97 of my clients had .
graduated from CETEC in Santo Domingo. Two had graduated from CIFAS, a
tgﬁca%ndhmefiical schoo] on the-island, and 10 more were scheduled to graduate fx;om

school. ' : -

Forty of my clients had since been certified by-the Educational Commission for )
Foreign Medical Grgduates. Thirteen had obtained their medical license to practice
and 6 more were working in hospital residency programs.

Clients paid me from $5,225 to $27,00Q for my services. In all I earned about $1.5
million_in those 3 years. I only got to keep about $500,000 of this total. The rest ﬁ -
went for bribes and expenses. - . y :

I know now what I si% was wrong. Byt I must tell you others are doing the same
ing. I have given the names of some of these people to the postal authorities and .
the, investigators from your Committee, , .

. Tregret what 1 did, but I should not be the only one punished. I will do whatever 1

to make up for this mjstake. . .-

Mr. Pepper. Thank you, Mr. de Mesones. Before we question Mr.
de Mespnés and proceed to the other panel, I will ask if you will *

N .
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. play, pleise, the record of the conversation between Mr. de Me-

sones and'Ms. Odette Bouchard to whom he refers.in his'statement
a8, the presumed: applicant for a degree with whom he- hégotiated,
who paid him a certain amount of money. And it turned out that

she was an undercover agent for the Postal Service, but-the Postal ~

Service has made a-transcript of this conversation.
- T will ask ifyyou-will-play.it now; please.

[Wher’eupdn,\—the tape was played for the:committee, and a tran-
script of the tape.follows:] - P .\

Eprrzp TRANSCRIPT bF CONSENSUAL ELECTRONIC' SURVEILLANCE—COMPILED ror Dr-

, CEMaER 7, 1984 SraremENT TO 'rtit Housz SUBCOMMITIREE ON HXALTH AND LONG-

Tiax Canx ( ] . . >
Transcript of consensial electronic surveillaice . )

Type of tonversion: Tq}eg‘hone; date of conversation: August 26, 1982; time of con-
versation: 11:10 AM; tape: T-3 (second of two conversations),

Mr. 2" Mrsonzs. Hello. N

. ‘Miss Boucran, Héllo Sould I'speak with l&r. le Mesones? )
Mr. bk Mmsonzs. Who's callling? ¥ .
"Miss Boucuano. Ah, my name is Odette Bouchard. .
Mr. bk MmsoNzs.. Yes, Miss Bouchard, speaking. What can I do for you?
Mr. px Mzsonxs. What can'I do for you? You wrdte to us I imagine.
Miss BoUcHARD. Yeah. Well, as a matter of fact I think, I, I.put in my letter that
"I had met somebody ai & party, and, ah . ..
Mr. px Mzsonss. Uh, huh: . )
Miss BoucHARD. We were discuseing, you know, my, my-——
-Mr. ox Mmsonzs. Yes, exsctly, yeah. ¢
Mise BOUCHARD. . , . my medical career apd, ah, he just suggested that maybe
your service could help me.
Mr. pg Mrsonis. Yeah,! - . -
Miss Boucnanrp. And -T-was-just, you know, interésted in some more information.
Mr. px Mmones. What/exactly do you wish?
‘Miss Boucraxo. Well, 'm not. quite sure, I. . .
Mr. oz Meaonms. Oh; (chuckle) . . - - .
Miss Boucnanp. I, just—you know, you have, you've had my resume. And. . .
Mr. px Mxdonms. {Unintelligible) but what are you? What's your profession?
Miss Boucnarp. I'm/a nurse practitioner. I'm also 2, a-P.A., physician's assistant.
Mr. bx Mesonss. Yeah. I gan be able £o give it 1o you an M.D. :
Mise Boucnaxp: UY, huh. ,
Mr. ox MmGNis. You know. To graduate as an M.D. '
Mr. o MesoNs. Who is going to sponsor your medical carcer? -
Miss Boucrarp, Ah, well, I can help and, you know, I assume that I.can get a
loan from my mothér. - . H /
Mr. px Mzsonzs. 'Uh, see what happens. Okay?

Miﬂ;BQU_CHAlD. Okay. . « a ‘ ‘.

Mr. px Mzsonms. You are seriously imotivated, right? -
Miss Bouchaxp. I amh. g . ’
. Mr. bz MxsoNks. Cause you are siot“motivated, I wish you never bother yourself. |

Miss BoucHARD. Yeah. . _
Mr. px Mrzsonxs. . . . and call.me, and bother me, because I. am extremely busy .
person. .

Mise. Bouciarp. Uh, huh, - \

Mr. px Mesones. I only speak with those people who ae
with these persons who are fishing for information and ne:

"Miss BoucHARD. Yeah. No, L 1. . . L.

Mr. px Musones. Tho reason why 1, 1 talk-to-you in thi manger, in. this: way,
because you appreciate. my time-and, and it's very serious s-bacavse of the
future.in the individua! I can-not play around, toy around \with your future; the
same way 1 don’t want you to toy around ‘with:my time. % .

ly interesting, and no

Miss BoucHAip. Okay. No, I understand that. PR . .

Mr. bE Mzsones. Are you clear? - . s
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Epiten TRANSCRIPT OF CONSENSUAL ELZCTRONIC SURVEILLANCE—COMPILED FOR Dr-
cemper 7, 1984 STATEMENT, T0 THE House - SuBCoMMITTEE ON HeALTH AND LONG-
TERM C/mz “ 3

. Transcript of consensual electronic surveillvance

B ge of_conversation: Oral (face-to-face meeting); date of conversation: September
3, 1982; time-of conversation; 8:42. PM~9:18 PM;: place of conversation: Room 1433,
Waldorf,?stona Hqtel 301 Park Avenue, Néw Vork, NY; tape: T-6 (only one con-
versation

Mr. DE MrsoNES. You see? Now the money matter. You see, that's very important
question. Usually, in matters like you, it’s over twenty thousand dollars, hecause.
But, I will be abie to do some srecu price for ¥ou

Miss. Bouctarp. Which-would be how much Cor

Mr. pr Mesones. But-1 think I be able to cha ou sixteen thousand, five hun.
dred dollars from which I need fifty-six hundred ol ars th}x the apphcatxm, down,
and before you go to take Lour degree .

Miss BoucHarp. Uh

Mr. pE MEsoNEs. . . . you have to shell out the rest. -
‘vhs;; BOUCHARD. Okay How soon do, do I have to submit this appﬁcatxon and.the
mone;

Mr. pzizsoNEs. Now, here. Do you no have the money at the moment?
Miss cHARD. No.

- Mr. pz"Mesonzs. You could be able to give me a postdated check? Provxdmg that .

» the chetk is going to be good.
"ste;l goucmnn If I sent you a check let’s-say, within the week. Would that be
.all rig o

i Mr. pg MesonEs. Doesn't matter. You give the check now, ah, ah ..
Miss BoucHarb. I, you know, I, I'm not sure that I can (umntelhgxble) .
Mr. pr Mxsones. You pass tomorrow (telephone nngs) or I'l go:ng to be here
until Monday.
Miss BoucHaxp. I have a- roblem T am leaving tonight. I'm gomg to the New
Jersey shore for the long weekend.
. Mr. pE MzsoNEs. . You cin send it to me.
Ah, and then you, you "bein g ask, you say you are a senior student i m M.D. I think
you gomg toml:e a velzagood physician. I am doing some specxal thing for you.
BoutHARrD. O
Mr DE MESONES. You understand? Because, ah, I have very sympathy for you be-
. cause [ know-the nurses make very,little money and they work phree times more
than the-doctors and the.doctors—xt's a shame,
Miss BoucHarp. Yeah.
Mr. pe Mzsones. You will rememb‘er me for the rest of your life. Perhape you will
take care of my grandchildren and my children free.’

EpitED TRANSCRIPT oF CONSENSUAL ELECTROWIC Sunvmmcz—éoupuﬁ ron Dx-
cmnzg T, 1984 StareMEnT TO THE HOUSE Suscosmrrrer ON Hraury AND LONG-
. TERM CARE

Transcript of consensual electronic surveillance

Time of conversation: 1:05 PM-1:39 PM; Place of conversation: Room 1"04
Waldorf- };\stona Hotel 301 Park Avenue, New York NY; Tape: T-10 (only one con-
versation
Mr. pe MrsoNs, Now You havé been given to me all the documents I needed?
Miss Boucharp. I'believe 86, .
Mr. bz Mesongs. Yeah. You're going to have an examination, don't you?
. Miss Boucnarp. The ECFM.G.?
. Mr..ox Mresonzs. No, an examination from the hotels: . . I meen for the school
You have to. . . you are scheduled to graduate in December, right?
Miss BoucHARD. That's right. '
Mr. px Mesongs. You supposed fo go iuto this place . . . (pause)
Miss BoucHarp. Okay. (pause) Okay. This we hudn’t talked about. L1 waan
aware that I. §
Mr. o MzsoNgs, N
Miss BoucHARD. . had to take these examinations.
Mr. pE Mzsones, . . . no, you have to do it, to take it (unmtelhglbl-) but this is a
- matter . (pause) .
Miss BoucHARD. Ars . . . .o . /

\ Q . '}_ 'j ' /
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' Mr. bt Mrsonss:., . . a formality. C
" Miss BoucHARD. Are they fairly easy to pass? , N

" Mr. or Masones, You-don't care you pass or not. You have no problems. You un- .
derstand what I said? You will have no problents, : -

. Miss-Boucnano. It doesn’t matter whetiier I"pass or not.
" * Mr. px MesoNxs. Yesh. <
- Mise Boucnaxo. (Unintelligible), okay. /.
-'Mr, pE Mxsonzs, I think the, the school wints covered. )
" Miss BoucARrD. Okay. So, as far as i8 concerned, my transcripts and ev-
erything would be okay but FLEX .would not accept those,
" Mr. oz MssoNzs. FLEX will'be.create to'you a problem. .
Miss'BoucHinp, Okay. _ N .
Mr. px Mesonzs. And we want . . . and, and since L know you are not interested - .
in decdrations . . ..in‘having a MD degree, to say that. you are 2 physician, . . . you
want to use that.to practice . . . ! -
Miss Boucarp. Ub, huh. ¥/ . .
Mr. ok Mxsongs. . . . because it's an investment you are (unintelligible), right?
Mise BoucHARpY-Right. / T f .
Mr. pxMgesones: Therefore, I warit you-to be successful:in your, ah, aims . . .
Mise Bouchaxp. Uh, huh. / . . : )
4 tz:l;gduonu. . . in your goals, by having a document in the way it's.sup-

X'fnrrm TRANSCRIPT OF Co‘wsugéuu ELkcTRONIC SURVEILLANCE—COMPILED FOR DR-
CxMBER 7, 1984 STATEMEANT 10 THE House SuscoMMITTEE ON HEALTH AND Long-
TERM CARE / ‘

Trgriscript of consensivhelectrovtic surveillance: s .
Type.of conversation: Telephone; Date rff conversation: November 24, 1982; Time

of conversation; 6:15 PM; Tape: T-12 (fourth of four conversations).

'+ ‘Miss BoucHARD. Are you going to be at the graduation? ’
Z " Mr. bk Mrsonxs. Oh, yes! I going to be to, to take care of, assist you people,
-Mise BoucHaxrp, Ah. ° N - 2 .
Mr. pe Mzsones. Certainly!.I &m in the same hotel where you going to be. I make

it ﬂecml rates. ; . .-
iss. BOUCHARD. Ah! - * -
Mr. be Mol;,oms. 'Okay. Do you:have very many like me tl_xpt you're gonna.be

taking care of?

Miss BoucHARD/ Yes! .

Mr..ox Mxsonzs. Ah! . - - ‘ P

Mise BoucsARD. I have many. I fiave almost forty. s -

' Mr, Prpper. We are-pleased to have heard .the reparts, and we .
" want to thank thie Postal,Service very much for making that re-
corded conversation available to-us. .
+  We will just ask you a few questions. How do you pronounce
your name? -

Mr. pE-MESONES. Pedro de Mesones. .

My, Pepper. I would like to ask you one guestion. You said that
you are sorry that you engaged in this frau ulent practice. You re-
-alizéd you were dealing with the lives of people, putting people’s
lives in" the custody of incompetent people professing to'be doctors.
But you said you were not the only one erfag’ed in this.activity. -

Can you give us some idea of the magnitude of this fraud that is
beirg practiced on the people of the United States? - . .

Mr. pe MESONEs. Yes, I' will be very pleased to give some assump-
tions and some ideas. I have been engaged in recruiting.and _%laac-
ing.students in Amedican schools successfully prior to-this p,is ap.
However, I was never myself breaking the law in any place before, .
because I am.eng: in this approximately 10 years in this. of
lawful. business. And ¥-have been.seeing myself the schools in
Mexico and the Caribbean whére they have been engaged in the

f
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practice of seiling transcripts for money to students and giving de-
grees and.making all t of arrangements.

It is really a shame,.l do believe iri America it would be perhape
worth checking an average of 20,000°to 25,000 physicians. Do you
realize alone in the Dominican Republic, I imagine, they would, be
graduating, an average-of 3,000 to 5,900 students per year. Besides
the schools in. the Dominican. Regublic, there-are also other schools
on other islands: They mainly have been built up to attract the_
market of American students. : .- ,

The whole situation starts from the practice of obtaining a
degree as quickly as:possible und go to the United, States -and re-

* .ceive the American license and obtain the practice and reach the
American people for the fees that are-absolutely high, as.you know,
to the point where an average poor American person cahnot be
able to afford a doctor although there are large quantities of doc-
tors co{centrated in several States as in the State of Florida - where,

* because of the over population of ﬁhysipiam, they have too many
doctors in-comparison with the inhabitants of the other States in
the country where it is very difficult tofind & physician, especially
after 5 o'clock. And I think the Government should have some kind
of strings atfached for those sfudents who are seeking loans: to

" pursue their carecer in medicine. Those studeuts should dedicate
some time of their career life to rural areas to be able to devote at
least a-minimuin of 5 yeéars to serve in rural areas:and poor com-
munities where the health care delivery is not as good as’in the
upper class areas. . -

r. PxpPER. Mr. de Mesones, I thought that in my State. of Flori-

da, before you-can be a practitioner of medicine, you had to a
State board examinatiort. How do these various so-called doctors
“ get by-those boards?” ’ Tl
Mr. px MesoNes. Some authorities who are familiar with those
boatds know-that these tests have been s0ld in advance. They have
been copied and they have been sold out and therefore the students
who have no-qualifications, they sit down for those tests, certainly
they already know in-advance what the questions are, and pass the
test and obtain the license. And I alSo have been informed that
those tests are not necessarily a strong test. They cannot be abie to
determine the good qualifications-and the good physician-to-be and
who is capable or not to perform duties as any othér American
phg'sifian who has been graduated from a bona fide American
school. - . O o
Mr. Preper. One other question. Does the failure of the hospitals,
say, veterans’ hospitals, to check up on the supposéd: qualifications
of so-called applicant “doctors” enable them to get by with these:
* spurious credentials? © . ) o A
- "Mr. bx MrsoNes. Yes, I dé believe, and perhaps in some cases
-t00, students learn abroad the first cycle of the medical career and
_ they return to the U.S to coritinue their-medical education in the

\ United Stniggrthey do obtain_in onevwati or the:other the so-called

basic sciences which is the fifst, part of their medical education and

the secorid part of the medical education they can perform by

. working in-U.S. hospitals. Those schools-abroad never question the

’ st;t]lderits performance of clinical rotation cycle in teaching hospi-
s's . ’
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They can go-to any- ps;ital in American neighborhood hospitals~
and they perform some duties and after & while they are issued
documents and perhaps-they say they have completed, when in re-
ality ‘they lack. teaching ];z'x;ogr & or teachers who could monitor
the students:learning or knowledge- And there aré many hospitals
that I think have mutual agreements and contracted with schools

. in the Caribbean. I have the names of thoge hospitals and will be
Bl%ased to:pass them on to you and U.S. authorities. They know it

ause I have had conversations-with them.
Mr. Pepper. Thank you very much. - 7
. - . . 3 1

.~ Mr, Wyden? .
Mr. WypeN. Thankyou. . oL
. 1 think you have sketched out clearly this charlatan’s caper but I
want to go-through:exactly where-this money went. You said that
you collected $1.5 million through these sales and that your profit I
was about $500,000. . - N i
Mr: pE MESONES. Approximately. - . -
Mr. WypeN. Could you. break down for the subcommittee where . .
the other million doliars went? K . .
Mr. oE MesowEs. The other millioj was to-pay tuitions for those _
students who have been legally and odfficially registered and part of ~
the money was also dedicated or used to pay under the table to the -
-assistant deay and other officials who have bgen able to provide me
and the student8 with those documents as we requested. auge in
some of the cases, the students, they requested to obtain tran-
scripts where they can show in their transcripts that they have AN
been attending. at the school since the inception of the medical -
career in order for them to vorroborate themselves when they .
returp to the United States to apply for the license because some :
States require from the student to present original documents, not -
documents_ where the transcript wbuld say they have been given r-
credits for previous studies. . <t
- Since they. dori’t have previous’ studies or documents to prove
this, they do wish to have those transcripts where they show they
have been-performed from A to Z injthe same school.
. Mr. Wypen. I would like you to describe these under-the-table
payments a little more clearly. Were these’ payments made to
~ schools or to government officials or to livensing boards—who ex-
acgrv did you-give these bribés or under-the-table payments to?
. Mr. pe MesoNEs. Not government.officials; absolutely no govern- .
ment officials are involved in this scheme. The payments have . »
beeh given to the schools because the schools officially charge extra
amounts 6f money for a student who wishes to do his convalida-
tions_in cases where 18 subjects from the basic sciences had to-be
completed and for Pa{merits to any the examinations passed with-
out the presence of the students and of course by those examina- .
tions have beeri taken had-to. be signed-by the dean*and two or
three professors of the faculty in order to attest-that the student
was present and took the examination. =~ - - 4 .
The money was used to pay the assistant dean, according to orie
of them, is being, or was used to split with the others who.signed
the approval of the test. o , . .
Mr.?WYDEN. How many schobls got these under-the-table pay-
ments? . . .
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Mr. pe MESONES. As far as I.know, I-think in’ the Dominican Re-
public, about three or four, to my knowledge, but several other
schools ‘have been engaged in the past. Some I imagine are cur-
tailed for the moment because the government ucted because of me
and closed two schools. I passed.thé information to the go‘vemmgnt.
"WHhilé I am there in Allenwood, I ipvited the officials of the govern-
. ment of the Dominican Republic, I wrote a letter to the President _
on March 15, 1983, and they ¢ame to see me on April 207 I have a
document issued to me thankinsg me for my cooperation. , = -. °
» But prior to that, it June 1983,.in one’ of my tripe to the Domini-
. can Reﬁublic, I went to the Naticnal Palace and spoke to the advis-

er for Higher Education to the President, for I offered my coopera- .
tior and nothing was done in that time until I was in prison and
this is when they came and.they promised théy were going to gloge
the schools and qhég' did, but 1-know cther schools are doing the
same thing, and nothing is being done now.. A
- As a matter of fact, some tire in the spring of 1982, the rector of
. one of the two schools now gloséd, told me in Santo Domingo; R.D.
that two South American_individuals, naturalized American citi-
zens, to whom she franchised her niedical schoel, iy 1982 turned
away from her scnool in order to enter in a new contractural
agreement with another schéol in Santo Demingo. for-economic ad-
vantages, N ’

Since these individuals left without satisfyinf their original. con-
tract with the rector, she did not release the files for students that
théy along as part of their new contractural agreement with the
other school. . . ) .

Shortly, after, she was informed that &‘ students taken by the
brokers. have been awarded with a M.IX degree without backup
documents necessary for their degree, because she was still holding
the files as collateral until payment of balance would made good'by
those two brokers. . -’ R .

Mr. WypgN. Mr. de Mesenes, do you thipk you could pull it off
again? oL I < . - .
Mr. bE MesoNEes. No, sir; I have no intent in my life to commit
anﬁcrimes., . . - L

* Mr. Wypen. I didn’t ask that. I said do you tuink you could? We
are quite certain that you have no intention of doing it again, but
do {ou think that given the system and its apparent-failure to deal
with these problems effectively, do you think Hou could do it again?

Mr. pE Mxesones. I am a little confused with your question. You
saﬁcould.l.do the same thing agairn? , / -

r. WYDgN. Given'the system and the fact that it hasn’t wozked
very effectively in policin%(t)hese, situations—— T

Mr. pe MesoNes. The Government Here, if they waéxt to detect
and they want_to prove this practic¢ is still being done by the
schools, I would .be pleased to coopergte and.go about ard pe able
to obtain what they wish. Is'that what you are asking of me? .

Mr. Wypn. I am dsking what you/told the subcommittee; that is,
- - thatyowcould~get—away~with~it~:gin ‘We kriow you,are not plan-

¢

-~

ning to do it, but you could get.awgy with it. - '

Mr. pE Mrsongs. Could you rephrasq f'our question againif me
oxl') 1Eiom_e(%)ody else could be able to do it, I assure you they would be, ;
able to do it. ) -t N
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My, WbeN.Thank yoy. © At . oo
V6 "Mr. e MesoNes: You are welcome.; % ' - . -
""" - “Mr. Ppren. Mr. Bilirakis. - .. "% .
‘Mr: BiLiRAKIS. Thgnk yqu, Mr: Cha\%‘j@n. AU .
Mr. ‘de Mesoneés, who-were the assig art-deans and some of these, s
. geqplg ;?at these rnedical schools, iig"quotes? Were they American’,
v, ‘Mr. Dz ’MEgoNES. As a-matter of fact, one of them-was an Ameri-
i cair@gqtor who holds two very important degrees from very' promi-
N “nent":and jmporta,ﬁt,univer's‘il;i’eg 1in .this country, one degree of a
‘neurogurgeon from .Loyola University in: Chicago, and;the other -
- de from Columbia University, is.in hospital administration.
M. Biuirakis. So this is one of the pedple that you gave money
to:to falsify°documentation? . . .
4 Mr. :px MEsoNEs. Yes; and. not only tha‘;, I do believe this specific -
*  personi before‘he went to become an assistant dean or dean of the -
. school; he was the dean of a very good school thst is a:member‘qf ..
the AAMC.. -. . ‘ 3
«  Mr. Biuraxkis. Do we have this assistant-dear’s name—we do. N
Mr. DE MEsonEs: And this is the dean who ‘handed ‘to me the .
fake documeénts, Wiped out the ‘names of those transcripts belong- .
ing to bona fide students-who appliéd to thig school and he.told me, \

-
-

‘‘you jugb?pe the name there and make sure your students go to a
notary ahd notarize their signature and return the documents to
- . mein order to fulfill the tequirements of this school:” I just took
. an opportunity that already was.a'commoén practice there. .
Mr. Biuirakis, Are there many like him? .o . T -
! Mr. pE Mrsonzs. I believe there are many in countries in the -
Caribbean. T do believe—I gave this information to the postal in- '
spectors here. I also -detected and discovered other things which
were interesting and émazed me. Perhaps some of these so-called N
physicians are practicing at the moment in some veterans’ hospi-
= tals in the United States and when they have been called by the
authorities, they say thé U.S. Government.does not, require a M.D.
oL %&ee’"for a physician. to practice medicine for the Government.
e 3

to me, confuses. :
Mr. Biurakis. I dort’t.think that is true, but I think that the re-
quirements are somewhat—— . ) . .
. MF. DE MESONES. Mr. Lyons from the- New York Times told me  * .
gﬁ the’ telephone that was typicul—I passed the information to
[} im' i T , * ’ ' Yo
: Mr. BiLrAKIS. Going back to Miss Bouchard; the degree and all .
these credentials, transcripts and what not. that you acquired for
s her, by, your testimony, she.did: not attend a single day of medical
school in.Santa-Domingo, right? : i ' .
- = 'Mr. bE MzsonEs. No, sir; and I am almost sure that she never .
-went-to the Dominican Republic before, only in that weék of grad-
uation. . . . . S
Mr. Biuraxis. You were able to get her degree-from ,CETE&
Mr. pE MEsonEs. Yes. - . .
Mr. BiLirAxis. And yoy were able to get falsified transcripts and .

" all the documentation that would indicate that she had attended -
-, school in CETEC? : P

>
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_ Mr. pE MESONES. As a common practice, the school has to-furnish
the student, along with a.degree, the transcripts-and also a letter
& of recommendation signed by the dean stating that that student
‘had been perfofrming-excellent in the years-she or he had-been an
American student in that school. ’
Mr. Biiraxis.. All right, sir. Thank you.

-

< * The documentation that you reteived, the letter fréim the dean -

« and all these things, were:these all falsified by you in her case or
did yot actually receivg-these from the authorities at CETEC ,.and

.then paid them.money for it?, . : . -
Mr. pe MEsoNEs. I am very pleased.and very- glad that you asked
me that question: becausé- many people in this country, they do. be-

olon in" those degrees. Those degrees are bona fide original degrees
« signed by the authorities of the school. Those degrees have been

certified, those signatures attested by the-Dominicarr Republic Gov~
. ernrfient, by“the State Department of the Dominican Republic and

therefore- those degrees are absolutely good degrees. They have
been obtained with false recommendations, false channels, false re-
-quirements-to obtain it, but the degrees are absolutely originals.
. Mr. Biurakis. -And Miss Bouchard, during that short period of
- time, but'with the falsified documentation, it could have been an-
indication that she had been in fact attending school there over 4 _
- g:ars or whatever the period of time should be in medical school, I
* believe it is-gdyéars—dmjng this period: of time-ghe-could have-an-
plied for a Federal:Government loan to help her get through medi-
cal school and if she had qualified, she probably. could have gotten
that loan, in other words, she coull have been-put in the same. cat-
egory as other studénts going to these medical schools and they'are
getting Federal Government loans, taxpayers’ loans? -
Mr. pe Mrsones. That is true because if they- want to avoid my
services and overpass me they could do it because the school has a
- set of ;'e%ui‘rements; Eiereql;lsites for the student who widhes:tg be
registerew in that school and to’ pursue the career of medicine in
one way-or the other, and therefore as I repeat it again, I approach
a standard procedure, a rf‘i"actice that was.already in existence. _
Mr. BiLiraxis. You took advantage—— . S
- Mr. bE MEsoNEs. 1 took advantage of a: practice, never thinki
that I was going to break the4aw in the United States becausé I
always have in my mind. I could be able ‘to .obtain perhaps 10 de-
grees or 20 d rhaps to a horse or

rees to individuals, imprecise,

lieve that I forged thosé degrees. I nevér put any.colon or semi- -

to -a donkey. If that horse or donkey doesnt pass a test in this

country, he will never be able to-practice medicine in the United

- ‘States. The whole thing was the tests, the ECFMG and the Flex

which I think is very jmportant for the American authorities to

» look at those tests and to séé what other things they can develop to
prevent the réoccurrence of this matter. -

* Mr. BiLrakis. There are a lot of questions, sir, that T would.like

. to ask about the quality of those achools and I am not going to.ask

. them of you, we will ask them of somé of the mediézgl authorities

* - coming up later, but do you personally know of studénts, and again

in quotes, who did not even attend a-single day of medical achool

down there who actually received U.S. Federal Government loans

for their medical schm!ing?

\

-




- Mr. pE MEsONES. Yes. S ; -
. Mr. BiuigrAkis. You personally know——

: . Mr..pE-Mesones. Yes. I know-and I-give it to the authorities.
~- 7~ - —Mr-Biurakis: Thank-you, Mr-Chairman. . "

" . Mr. Pereer. Mr. DeWine. Lt

Mr. DEWiNE. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. -
+ I wonder if you could tell us very briefly how you. first became
: inyolved in this business? How did you gét the idea? ' ..
- Mr. pe MesoNES. Veéry simple. Ww}rxen I'was.myself a member-the -

- Advisory Conference for the President of the United. States, one of

.the aims of this council-was to help and upgrade the minorities.to

obtain certain levels-in businesses as well as in the career ladder, -

and at that time I was served alscadviser to-the Cabinet Commiit-
tee for Hispanic American People, a.gommittee créated«speéiﬁcgllg
_ during the time of the Nixon Administration to help the Spanis}
‘minority.. ¢ o , ’
I was. very interested.in"pushing the candiddtes:for any school to
be able-to obtain a-degree. That was within American institutions.
I was doing very well and I was successful and very pleased-with
my aims. I never broke the law. I got beautiful letters,-and perhaj
they are- as good “as the decorations I have from ‘several Latin
American‘countries for my aims in international. relations and also
I could compare with those letters it really pleases-me to be-thank-
ing me for my aims-in helping them. .
After that, I had solicitations for people other-than minorities to
help them to obtain admissions into American medical schools
_within the country, and as you know, it is extremely difficult to
obtain an-admission in any American medical school. You have to
be a very, ve?' bright person and have an average of 4. You:had to
be-perhaps 3.7 or 3.8 on-a scale of,4 to-be able to just get an inter-
view and I'was able to secure some interviews, courtesy interviews
- for students who had lower than 3.5, and this is where I tried to
sell the studexnts who had the personality,:-the knowledge."
They were late bloomers and: they were able to become a.good
medical physician as I.ath proud they-did, and I never bribed any-
body, I never twisted the arms of any members of the admisasions
committee and up to that it-wag becoming difficiilt to.obtaic admis-
sion for American students into the American.schools. B
At this time I saw many ads-in the New York Times.and.in all
the newspager_s in the country that they have been offering their
services-and therefore I engage If in traveling to many coun-
tries in the world, including the Philippines, to try to eatablish a
medical school within an already existing, medical school or uni:
versity, but this one tailored to American students and in English.
Mr. DeWiNE. I wonder if you. could—I want, to make sure 1 un-
derstand- exactly what your-testimony was. It is my understanding
that you testified to this committee that not only did you secure
the diploma; but you were.:also involved in helping this particular
- _student to pasa'the medical:examination -back:in this country?
. Mr. ox ones. No. That was-exactly what I always told the
students when I was, requested if I would be able to help them, or

» to provide them with a-copy of the test in advance. I said, listen,
_don’t get me involved with anything that has {o-do with-breaking ,

* the.law in-this country. . ’ .
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Mr. DEWINE. Do you have aniy; idea of the people that you ar-
ranged to get these degrees, what e})ercentage of, them "actually
passed the test and are practicing medicine in this country?

Mr. pE MEsones. I have no idea. I have been informed, they do,
‘have according to the facts I gave before, arr average of 13 or some-
thing like this, but I don’t know so. They say they passed the test
of they obtain their licenses but I never witness any of the licenses.
They have to pass two tests; One test is the ECFMG, which is the
first test for any graduate to be able to obwain a position in any
hospitai as.a resident, and. that residency could be for 1 year, 3 or
- more accordifig to the specialty the physician wishes to practice.

Aftet he has spent some time as a resident is where he can apply
for his license, although I believe there are some States that do not
require residencg(.) C s

Mr. DEWINE. So you don’t know? .

Mr. pe Mesones. No, I don’t. My Lusiness was entirely to secure
the student a degree there and I fuifilled my commitment with the
- student in matters out of the coﬁn%y. A .

‘Mr. DEWINE.